

List of Lancaster County Photographers

Contents

Ackerman, Benjamin	2
Addis, John	2
Amos, William	3
Apperly, Richard	4
Bailey, William	4
Ball, Ella	4
Bear, John	5
Bechtel, Jacob	5
Berner, Louis	6
Berner, Otto	6
Betz, Howard H	6
Bew, George	6
Bishop, Simon Good	6
Black, Adam	6
Buchholz, Joseph	9
Combs, Jacob	9
Couch's Art Studio	9
Cummings, George Byron	9
Cummings, Eli	11
Cummings, Thomas	11
Cummings, William	11
Damant, James	11
Darmstaetter's Photo Supply House	11
Dellinger, Samuel L	11
Demmy, Aaron	13
Demuth, Ferdinand	13
Dornmeyer, John	15
Eberman, Albert	15
Eberman, Peter	15
Ehrman, Michael	15
Ehrmann, Charles	17
Ernst, Frederick	17
Face, Jesse	18
Fahnestock, William Baker	18
Ferree, Oden Orville	18
Flick, George	20
Fox, Christian	20
Freehaffer, Franklin	20
Good, Jonathan	21

Hackman, Benjamin	
Hallacher, Adam	
Harmany, Alfred	
Hess, Christian	
Hess, Joseph	
Hoak & Helm	
Hoffman, Jacob	
Hosten, Charles	
Ideal Photograph Company	
Ishler, Harman	
Mifflin, John Houston	
Mifflin, Lloyd	
Musselman, Clayton	
Payne, Edward	
Pervail, Leighton	
Pinkerton, George	
Piper, Samuel	
Raezer, Henry	
Roshon, Charles S	
Rote, Frederick	
Rote, Jacob E	
Wolf, George	
Wonders, Solon	
Youngman, James	

Ackerman, Benjamin

Born: October 20, 1852 Died: March 24, 1925 – buried at Mount Bethel Cemetery, Columbia, PA

• Listed at 121 North 7th Street, Columbia, in 1880

Addis, John Born: c. 1827 Died: September 3, 1887, Richboro, Bucks County, PA

- Worked on North Queen Street above Penn Square, 1855 1857
- Possibly a brother of Robert Addis

Addis, Robert W. Born: c. 1829 Died: c. 1873, Washington, DC

- Listed as an artist in the 1860 Census, Southeast Ward, Lancaster
- Possibly a brother of John Addis
- Later worked in Philadelphia

Allen, Amos M.

Born: March 31, 1823, Deerfield, Franklin County, MA Died: July 1907, Pottsville, Schuylkill County, PA

• Had a studio at Locust and Front Streets, Columbia, from 1852 to 1894

Aller, H. C. Born: March 26, 1841 Died: December 6, 1889, Trenton, NJ

- Aller's Gallery, 12 West King Street, 1887 1889
- See also William Amos, managed Aller's Gallery after H. C. Aller's death until 1891.

Amos, William Born: March 1851, Maryland Died: November 1, 1919

- Worked in Lancaster from 1885 to 1920
- Listed in 1880 Census in Chester, Delaware County, PA
- Manager of Lewis C. Fowler's Gallery, 12 West King Street in 1888
- May have worked briefly at 27 East King Street in 1885 or 1886
- Became proprietor of Aller's Gallery and Fulton Studio

Andrews, Fannie K. Born: January 15, 1864, Strasburg, PA Died: March 6, 1932, Sterling, Whiteside County, IL

- Daughter of Henry F. Andrews, jeweler in Strasburg, and sister of Jacob K. Andrews
- Jacob and Fannie opened a photo studio in their father's jewelry store on East Main Street in Strasburg
- Moved to Sterling, Illinois in 1912

Andrews, Jacob K.

Born: October 7, 1876, Strasburg, PA Died: August 21, 1944, buried at Strasburg Cemetery

- Son of Henry F. Andrews, jeweler in Strasburg, and brother of Fannie K. Andrews
- Jacob and Fannie opened a photo studio in their father's jewelry store on East Main Street in Strasburg
- Also worked at Bridge Street, opposite Gay Street, in Christiana, 1905 1910

Apperly, Richard

Born: March 1852, England Died: September 11, 1909, Bart Township, Lancaster County, PA

• Listed at 501 Love Lane (now Fairview Avenue), Lancaster, 1894 – 1898

Auxer, George H. Born: c. 1825, Chambersburg, PA Died: before 1870

- Worked in Marietta at Elbow Lane near Front Street, 1859 1860
- Also worked in Chambersburg and Lewistown, PA and Hackettstown, NJ

Bailey, William

Born: November 15, 1853, Tamaqua, Schuylkill County, PA Died: February 25, 1937, Columbia, PA, buried at Mount Bethel Cemetery

- Listed at 36 North 3rd Street, Columbia, 1887 1914
- Son, Herbert (b. 1880), also worked as a photographer

Ball, Ella Born: 1869 Died: March 19, 1952

- Listed in 1890 Lancaster City & County Directory as "artist"
- Listed in 1892 Lancaster City & County Directory as "retoucher"
- Lived and worked at 119 College Avenue, Lancaster, 1897 1940
- Moved to 902 New Holland Avenue, Lancaster

Banks, William S. Born: c. 1881, England Died: ?

- Listed at 149 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1909 1910
- Possibly worked as a school teacher
- Married Mary E. Wenger and moved to Toledo, Ohio, c. 1915
- Became an Episcopal minister

Bauman, B.

Born: c. 1817

Possibly Benjman Bauman

- Amateur photographer
- Lived at 526 South Queen Street, listed there in 1880 Census

Bealler, Earl H. Born: October 24, 1889 Died: November 30, 1916

• Listed at 744 South Lime Street, Lancaster, 1913 – 1916

Beam, Daniel C.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Ephrata, c. 1884

Bear, John

Born: January 3, 1797, Lancaster Died: November 6, 1858, Lancaster

• Known primarily as a printer, but also worked in photography in the 1840s and 1850s

Bechtel, Jacob

Born: February 15, 1858, Pennsylvania Died: December 18, 1937 – buried at Swamp Church, West Cocalico Township.

- In Blainsport, West Cocalico Twp., in 1900
- Listed as a printer in Ephrata in 1910

Bemensderfer, John K.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed as a crayon artist on South Prussian Street in Manheim in 1890

Benson, Charles H.

Born: c. 1829 Died: August 10, 1902, Philadelphia

- In business with J. Miles Jamison as Jamison & Benson, 80 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1864 1866
- Listed in Philadelphia in 1870, 1880, and 1900 Census

Berner, Louis

Born: c. 1839, Prussia Died: before 1901?

- Lived at 451 West Chestnut Street, Lancaster, in 1880, next door to his brother, Otto Berner, and Howard H. Betz, another photographer
- May have worked as a gilder and upholsterer
- In business with Jonathan Good as Good & Berner Bros., 1873

Berner, Otto

Born: July 1840, Prussia

Died: June 21, 1901, Lancaster, buried at Greenwood Cemetery

- Lived at 449 West Chestnut Street, Lancaster, in 1880, next door to his brother, Louis Berner, and Howard H. Betz, another photographer
- Worked as a gilder and picture framer
- In business with Jonathan Good as Good & Berner Bros., 1873
- Listed as a gilder in the 1900 Census

Betz, Howard H.

Born: c. 1846 Died: November 8, 1892, Philadelphia

- Lived at 501 West Chestnut Street, Lancaster, in 1880
- In business with George H. Richards as Betz & Richards in 1884
- Also worked at 43½ North Queen Street, 1884 1886
- See also George H. Richards

Bew, George Born: June 22, 1835, Virginia Died: July 2, 1913 – buried at Mount Bethel Cemetery, Columbia, PA

- Had Broad Street Gallery in Lititz, 1890 1896
- At 162 Locust Street, Columbia, 1900 1914

Bishop, Simon Good

Born: March 27, 1870 Died: December 10, 1955, Elizabethtown, buried at Mount Tunnel Cemetery

• Had studio at 11 North Market Street, Elizabethtown, 1909 – 1930

Black, Adam Born: c. 1855, New York Died: ?

• Listed in Paradise Twp. in 1880 Census with family of James Harding

Black, Harry A. Born: c. 1859 Died: March 16, 1895

- Had Black's Studio, 24 West King Street, Lancaster, 1886 1900
- Took over both L. C. Fowler's and H. C. Aller's studios
- Studied with William GIll

Bonine, Archie F.

Born: April 9, 1846 Died: August 31, 1907, Lancaster

- Listed as a tinsmith in the 1880 and 1900 Census
- Worked at 445 South Queen Street, 1884 1892
- Also listed as Reading & Bonine with John T. Reading
- Brother of Robert A. and Elias Bonine Jr.

Bonine, Elias Jr. Born: September 20, 1843 Died: August 7, 1916, Pasadena, California

- Moved first to Altoona, PA
- In Mendocino County, California by 1880
- In Los Angeles, CA, by 1892
- Brother of Archie F. and Robert A. Bonine

Bonine, Robert A. Born: December 11, 1836 Died: October 26, 1912, Altoona, PA

- Worked primarily in Altoona, PA, and Hollidaysburg, PA
- Brother of Archie F. and Elias Bonine Jr.

Bowers, William Daniel

Born: February 23, 1884 Died: February 2, 1950, Lancaster, buried at Cedar Lawn Cemetery

• Lived and worked at 131 East New Street, Lancaster, 1915 – 1933

Boyd, Walter M. Born: c. 1860, New York Died: ?

- Listed at 115 East King Street, Lancaster, in 1880 Census
- Also had Walter M. Boyd & Co. in Philadelphia

Brown, E. B.

Born: ? Died: ? • Worked in Lititz

Buchholz, Joseph

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Lititz

Campion, J. W. H.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Corner of Queen and Orange Streets, Lancaster, 1880s

Combs, Jacob

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Safe Harbor, Conestoga Twp., 1859 – 1860

Cook, William T.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed at 210 Locust Street, Columbia, 1892

Cooper, P. F.

Born: ? Died: ?

• In Lancaster County c. 1869

Couch's Art Studio

• In Mount Joy, 1914

Cummings, George Byron

Born: 1856 Died: August 13, 1934, Lancaster

• Son of Thomas Cummings

• Worked at 6 North Queen Street and 106 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1875 – 1888

Cummings, Eli

Born: c. 1825, Marietta Died: September 7, 1892, Lancaster, buried at Lancaster Cemetery

- Brother of Thomas Cummings
- Worked in Marietta and Mount Joy, c. 1860
- Later moved to Lancaster with his brother

Cummings, Thomas Born: January 12, 1827, Marietta Died: July 1, 1887, Lancaster

- First to use ambrotype/collodian process commercially in Lancaster
- Had studios at 21 North Queen Street and 40 North Queen Street, 1857 1886

Cummings, William Born: c. 1815, Marietta Died: January 19, 1881, Lancaster

- Brother of Thomas Cummings
- Worked briefly in Lancaster, 1857 1860

Damant, James

Born: ? Died: ?

- Worked with Dr. William B. Fahnestock in Lancaster in the 1840s
- Listed as Fahnestock & Damant in 1842
- Possibly lived later in Williamsport, PA

Darmstaetter's Photo Supply House

- Established as Lancaster Photo Supply House
- Bought by Jacob Darmstaetter in 1905
- Eventually became a small department and stationery store
- Closed c. 1976

Dellinger, Samuel L.

Born: April 18, 1828 Died: March 8, 1897, buried at Marietta Cemetery

- Worked at 65 North Market Street, Marietta, 1859 1896
- Also worked as a harness maker and saddler

Dellinger, John

Born: c. 1829 Died: November 2, 1865, Lancaster

- Listed in Lancaster at the northwest corner of Penn Square near the market, 1854 1860
- Listed in Lancaster, Southeast Ward, in 1860 Census

Demmy, Aaron Born: January 1, 1850 Died: September 25, 1923, Elizabethtown

• Lived and worked in Elizabethtown, 1914 – 1920

Demuth, Ferdinand

Born: March 22, 1857, Lancaster Died: January 27, 1811, buried at Lancaster Cemetery

- Owner of Demuth's Tobacco Shop on East King Street, Lancaster
- Member of the Lancaster Camera Club
- Father of artist Charles Demuth
- Listed as a photographer from 1894 1910

Dengler, Ignatius J.

Born: November 28, 1871, Germany Died: August 21, 1928, Lancaster, PA, buried at St. Mary's Cemetery

- Worked as assistant to Otto Weber
- Listed at 22 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1896 1910

Denlinger, Walter M.

Born: December 2, 1892 Died: July 21, 1930, Erie, PA, buried in Lancaster, PA

- Listed at 10 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1913 1914
- Death certificate listed his occupation as "actor"

Dobson, W.

Born: ? Died: ?

Possibly the William Dobson listed in Manheim in the 1860 Census

Dornmeyer, John

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed in Lancaster in 1857

Dunn, J. G.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Lancaster?

Eberman, Albert Born: June 20, 1841, Lancaster Died: March 16, 1867, Lancaster

- Son of Peter Eberman and brother of Charles W. Eberman
- Partner of Jacob Stehman Eberman & Stehman
- Listed at 28 East King Street, Lancaster, from 1863 1867
- Also listed as Abner Eberman

Eberman, Charles W. Born: November 2, 1833, Lancaster Died: April 18, 1866, Lancaster

- Son of Peter Eberman and brother of Albert Eberman
- Listed at 28 East King Street, Lancaster, from 1863 1866

Eberman, Peter Born: November 13, 1795, Lancaster Died: May 4, 1879, Lancaster

- Father of Albert and Charles W. Eberman
- Primarily a tobacconist, but may also have worked as a photographer
- Listed at 28 East King Street, Lancaster, from 1863 1869

Ehrman, Michael

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Lancaster, c. 1860

Ehrmann, Charles

Born: ? Died: ?

- Possibly in Lancaster, c. 1856
- Also listed in Philadelphia, 1849 1860
- Possibly also a physician

Engle, Horace M. Born: February 23, 1861 Died: February 26, 1949, Easton, PA, buried at Maytown, PA

- From Marietta
- Known for work with buttonhole camera
- Large collection of his work is at the Pennsylvania State Archives in Harrisburg, PA

Ensminger, Samuel A.

Born: June 24, 1827 Died: November 8, 1909, Manheim

- Listed as Ensminger & Co., Manheim, 1864 1866
- Listed as Ensminger & Miller, with Warren Miller, Manheim, 1884
- Listed at 9 North Prussian Street, Manheim, 1875 1886

Ensminger, Charles A.

Born: July 19, 1866, Manheim Died: April 13, 1921, Manheim

- Son of Samuel A. Ensminger
- Also worked at 9 North Prussian Street
- Also worked as a pharmacist

Eppler, Charles E.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Columbia, c. 1850

Ernst, Frederick Born: February 1870 Died: March 1, 1932, Lancaster

- Worked at 15½ East King Street and 11 East King Street, Lancaster, 1890 1925
- Also had Keystone Studio at 149 North Queen Street, Lancaster

Erskine, J. B.

Born: ? Died: ?

- Listed at Simpson's Building, Market Square, Elizabethtown, 1864 1866
- Also worked in Sunbury, PA

Face, Jesse

Born: ?

Died: ?

• May have worked in Beartown, Caernarvon Twp., 1859 – 1860

Fahnestock, William Baker

Born: October 13, 1804, Lancaster Died: April 27, 1886, Lancaster

- Was also a physician
- Worked with James Damant, Damant & Fahnestock, in the 1840s

Ferree, Oden Orville

Born: March 6, 1889, Paradise Twp., York County Died: January 12, 1960, York, PA, buried at Altland Meeting House, Paradise Twp., York County

- Worked as a photographer in Ephrata during the 1920s
- Moved back to York by 1930
- Later worked for Meldrum & Landis Glass Co. in York

Fisher, A. H.

Born: ? Died: ?

- Died: ?
 - Listed in 1884 and 1886 City and County Directories in Ephrata Twp.
 - May have worked later as a cigar packer

Fitzgerald, Charles D. Born: 1885

Died: March 4, 1948, Lancaster

- Lived at 319 West Walnut Street, Lancaster
- Listed as a photographer in Lancaster, 1908 1918

Flick, George

Born: c. 1822 Died: February 22, 1897, Lancaster

- Lived at 15 West German Street, Lancaster
- Listed as an outdoor photographer, 1875 1876
- Also worked as a taxidermist

Fordney, James G. Born: September 12, 1818 Died: September 28, 1886, Lancaster

- Listed in Elizabethtown in 1850 Census
- Listed in Lancaster in 1860 Census
- Also spelled Fortney

Fowler, Lewis C. Born: July 29, 1860, New Jersey Died: August 26, 1906, buried at Eglington Cemetery, Clarksboro, Burlington County, NJ

- Worked at 12 West King Street, Lancaster, 1884 1886
- This studio became Aller's Gallery in 1887
- Listed at 38 40 West King Street, Lancaster, c. 1890
- Later worked in Woodbury, Gloucester County, NJ

Fox, Christian Born: May 20, 1846 Died: March 21, 1918, Parkesburg, Chester County, PA

- Worked in Gap, Salisbury Twp., 1890 1892
- Listed as a housepainter in the 1900 Census

Freehaffer, Franklin

Born: January 13, 1849 Died: January 23, 1917, buried at Muddy Creek Cemetery, Reamstown, PA

- Worked in Adamstown, 1880 c. 1900
- Listed as a carriage painter in 1900 Census
- Also spelled Freehoefer, Freehaefer

Fritz, Edwin R.

Born: February 22, 1891, Akron, PA Died: June 19, 1947, buried at Cedar Lawn Cemetery, Ephrata, PA

- Amateur photographer
- Lived in Akron borough
- Photographer for U. S. Navy at time of his death

Gill, William L. Born: January 18, 1827 Died: December 14, 1893, Lancaster

• Gill's City Gallery, 20 East King Street and later 19 East King Street, Lancaster, 1859 – 1882

Gerhard, Jacob G.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed at 15½ East King Street, Lancaster, 1903 – 1906

Good, Jonathan

Born: c. 1834? Died: ?

- Possibly the Jno. P. Good listed as County Recorder in Lancaster in the 1880 Census
- Also listed as Good & Berner Bros. in 1873
- Listed at 80 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1869 1870

Hackman, Benjamin

Born: 1858 Died: ?

• Listed in the 1880 Census in Mount Joy

Hallacher, Adam Born: June 23, 1823 Died: June 12, 1910, buried at Zion United Methodist Cemetery, Akron, PA

- Lived in Rothsville, Warwick Twp.
- Possibly had a dry goods store
- Saloon keeper in 1880 Census

Harmany, Alfred Born: c. 1836 Died: August 13, 1875, Lancaster

- Worked as clerk at Return E. Fahnestock's dry goods store, c. 1860
- Listed as Harmany & Eberman at 37 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1863 1864, and at 35½ North Queen Street, 1866 1867
- Listed by himself from 1868 1873
- Listed as "coloring agent" in 1875 1876 Lancaster Directory

Harpel, Morris S. Born: October 21, 1881, Lancaster Died: October 14, 1916

- Listed at 16 East King Street, Lancaster, 1907 1912
- Also worked in Lebanon

Heiss, William H.

Born: c. 1840 Died: before 1880

- Worked in Strasburg and New Holland, c. 1864 1866
- Worked in Philadelphia, c. 1866
- Worked in Tremont, Schuylkill County, c. 1870

Hennis, William T.

Born: ? Died: ?

> In business with James S. Saurmann as Saurmann & Hennis, 43 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1875 – 1876

Hess, Christian Born: June 18, 1861, Lancaster Died: March 5, 1935, Lancaster, buried at Millersville Mennonite Cemetery

• Listed in Lancaster Twp. in 1880

Hess, Joseph

Born: February 21, 1844 Died: March 5, 1927, New Bloomfield, Perry County, PA

- Listed in Mifflintown, Juniata County in 1880 Census
- Lived at 20 North Shippen Street, Lancaster in 1900 Census
- Worked at 50 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1901 1910

Hippard, E.

- Worked in Elizabethtown c. 1870
- Possibly Emanuel Hippard, born in 1845, son of John and Elizabeth Hippard.
- May have lived in Elizabethtown in the late 1860s
- Listed in Annville, Lebanon County, in the 1870 Census

Hoak & Helm

- Possibly Jacob and Frank Hoak, father and son, owned a dry goods store in Strasburg
- Also Hoak & Johnson
- Worked during 1860s
- Helm may be Franklin Helm, dry goods merchant in Providence Township in 1870

Hoffman, Jacob

Born: c. 1823 Died: ?

• Worked in Strasburg during the 1850s, possibly 1860s

Holton, Henry H.

Born: c. 1853 Died: September 5, 1888, Lancaster

- Lived at 52 West Orange Street, Lancaster, in 1880
- Worked as a painter
- In business with William H. Inman as Holton & Inman

Hosten, Charles Born: February 1850 Died ?

- Listed at 6 North Queen Street, Lancaster, in 1880
- Hotelkeeper at 125 North Queen Street, Lancaster, in 1900
- Walter Miesse, photographer, is living next door in 1900

Hubley, John W. Born: 1848, Lancaster Died: September 19, 1888, Lancaster

• Worked at 45 West King Street and 45 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1866 – 1888

Hyers, George A.

Born: c. 1842 Died: ?

- Listed at Front Street, Columbia, 1864 1866
- In Philadelphia in 1870 Cenus, listed as a "travelling agent"

Ideal Photograph Company

- 149 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1907 1908
- See also William S. Banks

Inman, William H. Born: February 10, 1844 Died: April 6, 1932, Upper Darby, PA

- Listed at 522 East Orange Street, Lancaster, in 1880 Census
- In business with Henry H. Holton as Holton & Inman
- 1883 Lancaster business directory, p. 70: at 43 ½ N. Queen Street
- In Philadelphia in 1900 Census

Ishler, Harman Born: September 1, 1845 Died: January 5, 1935, Elizabethtown, PA – buried at Mount Tunnel Cemetery

- Listed in Elizabethtown in 1898
- Cigar manufacturer in 1900

Jameson, Charles Born: c. 1827 Died: before 1880

- Worked in Columbia, possibly had a studio on Front Street
- Listed as an ambrotype artists in the 1860 Census, Loganville, York County
- Also worked in Harrisburg, 1864 1875

Jamison, J. Miles Born: November 1, 1844 Died: February 5, 1911, Richboro, Bucks County, PA

- In business with C. H. Benson as Jamison & Benson, 80 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1864 1866
- Listed on his own in Lancaster, 1868 1869

Johnston, Charles M.

Born: c. 1811 Died: September 5, 1864, Lancaster County

- Listed as an artist in Drumore Twp. in the 1850 Census
- In business with John M. Johnston in Lancaster at Mechanics Hall on South Queen Street and also at the corner of North Queen and Orange Streets
- In business with John Bear as Johnston & Bear, 1846 1850
- In business at Buck, 1859 1860

Johnston, John M.

Born: c. 1825 Died: ?

• In business with Charles M. Johnston in Lancaster at Mechanics Hall on South Queen Street and also at the corner of North Queen and Orange Streets

Jolley, John Born: c. 1822, Ireland

Died: ?

- Worked in Columbia, c. 1860
- Listed in Portage, Columbia County, Wisconsin in 1870 Census

Keiffer, Alpa?

Born: c. 1840, Pennsylvania Died: ?

- Listed as an "Ambrotypist" in the 1860 Census in Durlach, Elizabeth Township.
- Possibly Alfred Keiffer in St. Clair County, Illinois in 1870

Keim, John H. Born: July 30, 1821 Died: March 19, 1892, Lebanon, Lebanon County, PA

- Worked in Mount Joy, 1864 -1866
- In Lebanon in 1870 Census

Keiser, George B. Born: ?

Died: ?

• Listed at 31 South Prussian Street, Manheim, in 1898

Killian, George Born: February 22, 1876 Died: September 27, 1938, Lancaster

• Had a studio at 26 East King Street, Lancaster, 1897 – 1938

Killinger, David Born: February 1861

Died: ?

- Lived at 617 West Orange Street, Lancaster
- Listed as a photographer in the 1880 Census
- Possibly working as a watchmaker in Canton, OH, in 1900

King, Sherman D. Born: February 18, 1873 Died: November 12, 1946, Lancaster

- Listed as a photographer in Lancaster in the 1910 Census
- Worked at 43 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1913 1914

Klugherz, Samuel Born: May 2, 1837, Germany Died: October 18, 1930 Towota, Passaic County, NJ

- Worked in Sunbury, PA, c. 1880
- Worked in Columbia, c. 1890
- In Paterson, NJ, by 1891

Knipe, Reinoehl

Born: September 14, 1867, Norristown, PA Died: June 21, 1945, Norristown, PA

- From Montgomery County, PA
- Listed in Norristown Directories 1888 -1890
- Worked in Lancaster 1890 1895
- Was also a physician

Knowles, J.

Born: ? Died: ?

- Worked with Ella Ball at 119 College Avenue, Lancaster, 1921 1924
- Prior to this, lived in Elizabethtown and worked with Simon G. Bishop

Koser, Phares B.

Born: June 20, 1870, Penryn Died: September 24, 1954, Penryn

• Listed as a photographer from 1898 – 1900

Kreider, Charles D.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Lancaster in the 1870s and 1880s

Kreiter, Aaron S.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Lititz in the 1860s and 1870s

Lant, William Born: April 1838 Died: October 25, 1905, Rome, Italy

- Worked with Jonathan Good and the Berner brothers as Good, Berner & Lant at 45 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1860s
- Lived at 219 East King Street, Lancaster in 1880 and 1900

Lease, Ammon M. Born: April 1851, York County Died: February 8, 1916, Lawrence County, South Dakota

- Worked at 22 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1886 1900
- Also had the Boston Photo Gallery at 531½ West King Street, Lancaster, 1888
- May have moved to Iowa by 1910

Lee, C. N. Born: ? Died: ? • May have worked in Columbia

Lesher, H. C.

Born: November 6, 1838, Niagra County, NY Died: August 26, 1923, Lee's Summit, Jackson County, MO

- Front Street above Locust Street, Columbia, 1864 1866
- See also Leslie M. Williams
- Listed in Sedalia, Pettis County, Missouri in 1870

Little, Rolandis J. M. Born: c. 1837 Died: 1890, Columbia, Lancaster County, PA

- Listed as a daguerreotypist in Columbia in the 1860 Census
- Worked at 103 Locust Street and 193 Locust Street, Columbia
- Listed in 1880 Census, but may have died before 1900

McCaa, William Born: January 31, 1875, Ephrata Died: April 13, 1935, Bethlehem, PA

- Had McCaa's Photo Studio in Ephrata, c. 1900
- Son of Dr. David McCaa
- In Bethlehem, PA, in 1910 and 1920 Census

McCauley, ?

Born: ? Died: ?

• 37 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1858

Meeser, George F.

Born: ? Died: ?

• East King Street, Lancaster, 1844 – 1850

Mentzer, Jacob K. Born: April 20, 1837, New Holland, PA Died: September 12, 1922, New Holland, PA

- Was a merchant in New Holland
- Had Mentzer's Ground Floor Gallery in New Holland, 1864 1866

- Worked at West Main Street, Mount Joy in 1884
- 33 South Prussian Street, Manheim, 1890 1892
- Also worked in Downingtown, Chester County, in 1878

Metzger, Samuel H.

Born: August 24, 1836, Lancaster Died: October 6, 1923, Lancaster

- Worked in Lancaster c. 1860
- Became a physician

Miesse, D. Walter Born: May 1878, Lancaster Died: August 21, 1964, Lancaster

• Had studio at 24 West King Street, 1894 – 1940

Mifflin, John Houston

Born: February 2, 1807 Died: February 13, 1888, buried at Mount Bethel Cemetery, Columbia, PA

• In Lancaster, c. 1844

Mifflin, Lloyd

Born: September 15, 1846, Columbia, PA Died: June 16, 1921, buried at Mount Bethel Cemetery, Columbia, PA

- Son of John Houston Mifflin
- Arist and poet, lived in Columbia, 1880s 1890s

Miller, William K. Born: 1879 Died: 1973

• Printer for the Ephrata Review newspaper

Miller, John K.

Born: c. 185 Died: March 13, 1925, Lancaster County

- Bainbridge Street, Elizabethtown, 1884 1892
- Also worked in Maytown

• Listed in East Donegal Township in 1910 Census

Miller, Warren D.

Born: March 6, 1853 Died: October 12, 1917, Manheim, Lancaster County

- Worked on South Prussian Street, Manheim, 1882 1883
- Later worked as a tobacco stripper

Mohn, Faton C.

Born: January 1868 Died: October 14, 1916, Lancaster

- 243 West King Street and 218½ West King Street, Lancaster, 1892 1904
- Listed in Lancaster in 1910 Census as a photographer
- Also worked in Downingtown, Chester County, 1896 1897

Mummach, Peter H.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Mount Joy in the 1860s

Musselman, Jacob B.

Born: January 2, 1837 Died: August 28, 1912, buried at Bowmansville Cemetery

- Worked in Bowmansville in the 1870s
- Also owned a general store in Bowmansville

Musselman, Clayton

Born: March 4, 1880 Died: February 1, 1939, buried at Bergstrasse Lutheran Cemetery, Ephrata

- Affiliated with Titus Studio in Ephrata
- May have also been a school teacher

Ottinger, George M.

Born: February 8, 1833, Montgomery County, PA Died: October 29, 1917, Salt Lake City, UT

- Listed as an artist in Lancaster in 1860 Census with Robert Addis
- In Salt Lake City, Utah in 1870 Census

Pannebecker, Samuel K.

Born: April 15, 1843, Berks County, PA Died: October 29, 1917, Nanticoke, Luzerne County, PA

- Started as an architect in Wilkes-Barre, PA, c. 1880
- Worked in Columbia, Second Street near Locust, 1896 1900

Pannebecker, William H.

Born: March 26, 1869, Boyertown, Berks County, PA Died: August 3, 1958, West Reading, Berks County, PA

- Son of Samuel K. Pannebecker
- Worked in Nanticoke, Luzerne County, PA, 1900 1910

Paul, Harry A.

Born: c. 1835 Died: 1895, buried at Old Pennepack Baptist Cemetery, Philadelphia

- Lived at 345 East Chestnut Street, Lancaster, in 1880
- In Philadelphia in 1870

Payne, Edward Born: October 1855 Died: ?

- Studio at 17½ East Main Street, Ephrata, 1898
- Possibly in Georgetown, Sussex County, Delaware in 1900

Pervail, Leighton Born: October 1842, Maryland Died: March 22, 1906, Manheim, Lancaster County

- Lived at 250 South Prince Street, Lancaster, in 1880
- Lived in Manheim in 1906, working as a cigarmaker

Pinkerton, George

Born: January 23, 1846 Died: January 8, 1919, Lancaster

- Listed as an outdoor photographer, 220 East Lemon Street, Lancaster, 1875 1876
- Also worked as a grocer and a letter carrier

Piper, Samuel Born: November 1862 Died: ?

- Photograph operator in Philadelphia in 1880
- Lived at 55 South Marshall Street, Lancaster, in 1900
- In Pittston, Luzerne County, PA, by 1910

• May have also worked in Mount Joy

Pugh, Samuel C.

Born: c. 1895 Died: October 26, 1950, Harrisburg, PA

- 225 West King Street, Lancaster, 1925 1926
- Pugh's Kamera Gift Shop, 1927 1928
- Pugh's Art Shoppe, 33 West King Street, Lancaster, 1929
- Also listed as Pugh's Gift Shop, 11 West King Street, 1939 1940

Raezer, Henry

Born: ? Died: ?

• 1870 Census, New Holland, Earl Township, Lists Henry Raezer Sr. and Henry Raezer Jr. as coach makers

Reading, John T., Sr.

Born: c. 1830, New York Died: ?

- Working in Lancaster in 1870
- Working in Columbia in 1880
- Worked with Archie Bonine as Reading & Bonine until 1871

Reading, John T., Jr.

Born: c. 1860 Died: ?

- Working in Columbia in 1880
- In Paterson, NJ, in 1900

Ream, William W.

Born: February 1, 1869 Died: September 28, 1932, Voganville, Lancaster County, PA

- Amateur photographer, worked as a cigarmaker
- Lived near Voganville, Earl Township

Reidenbach, Harry E. Born: November 19, 1876, Lititz Died: March 28, 1961, Lititz

• Worked as a watch repairer in Bethlehem, PA, in 1900

• At 9 East Main Street, Lititz, 1903 –1920

Reimer, Benjamin F.

Born: c. 1826 Died: ?

- In Lancaster County in 1869
- In Philadelphia in 1870

Rice, Charles M.

Born: June 10, 1878, Strasburg, Lancaster County, PA Died: September 3, 1969, Lancaster, PA

- Staff photographer for Lancaster Newspapers Inc. from 1924 to 1933
- Later ran his own photography business in Lancaster

Richards, George H. Born: August 14, 1843 Died: December 23, 1894, Columbia, Lancaster County

- In business with Howard H. Betz as Richards & Betz, 1884
- Also at 408 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1886
- Owned a book store in Columbia

Ricker, Howard H. Born: c. 1860, Mount Joy Died: c. 1931, Minneapolis, MN

• Worked in Mount Joy borough

Rider, H. H. Born: March 1878 Died: ?

- Listed in 1903 County Directory in Elizabethtown
- Working as a machinist in Manheim Twp. in 1910 Census

Robson, Charles S.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked at 162 Locust Street, Columbia, 1898

Born: January 9, 1863 Died: July 12, 1955, Lancaster

• 305 West King Street, Lancaster, 1903 –1906

Root, Daniel C.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Christian Street and Locust Street, Lancaster, 1903 – 1904

Roshon, Charles S.

Born: ? Died: ?

- 162 Locust Street, Lancaster, 1896
- There is a Christian Roshon in Harrisburg in 1900 who is listed as a photographer not sure of relation
- Also not sure of relation to John W. Roshon

Roshon, John William Born: April 21, 1864, Huntingdon, PA Died: February 12, 1955, Paxtang, Dauphin County, PA

- In Harrisburg in 1900
- At 143 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1915 1916
- Roshon Studio, 1917 1918
- Son of Christian Roshon listed as a photographer in Harrisburg in 1900

Rote, Frederick Born: April 18, 1854, Lancaster Died: November 15, 1936, Allegheny County, PA

- Listed as a painter in 1874
- Listed as photographer in 1880 Census in Lancaster

Rote, Jacob E. Born: c. 1852 Died: September 20, 1901, Lancaster

- 106 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1873 1885
- 50½ North Queen Street, 1886 1900

Roth, Samuel G.

Born: March 31, 1872 Died: April 22, 1955, Lancaster, PA, buried at Woodward Hill Cemetery

- Lived at 317 Lancaster Avenue, Lancaster
- Had a cigar store at 221 North Queen Street, Lancaster, c. 1895 -?
- Also sold and repaired bicycles and sold phonographs

Rupley, John B. Born: October 24, 1837 Died: December 11, 1892

- May have worked as a photographer in Lancaster in the 1860s
- Also worked as a bookbinder

Saurmann, James S. Born: c. 1851, Pennsylvania Died: ?

- Listed as a photographer apprentice in Norristown, Montgomery County, PA, in 1870 Census
- Listed at 45 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1875 1878
- Listed as Saurmann & Hennis, with William J. Hennis, 1875 1876
- Listed in Breckenridge, Colorado in 1880 Census

Saylor, B. Frank Born: February 1838 Died: August 11, 1920, Lancaster

• Had studio at 42 – 44 West King Street, Lancaster, 1866 – 1920

Schlauch, David S. Born: March 19, 1836, New Holland, PA Died: January 8, 1903, New Holland, PA

- Worked as a school teacher prior to getting into photography
- Had studio adjoining the school in New Holland, Earl Twp., from 1864 1876
- Also listed in Ephrata in 1884
- Listed in New Holland to at least 1900

Schlotzhauer, Carl August Born: February 25, 1886 Died: September 26, 1946, Lancaster

- Had Schlotzhauer Studio at 163 North Queen Street and 10½ East Orange Street, Lancaster, 1913 1946
- Studio remained open after his death until 1954

Seib, Theodore P.

Born: August 12, 1866, Cleveland, Ohio Died: July 30, 1940, Lancaster, PA, buried at Woodward Hill Cemetery

• Listed at 236 East Walnut Street and 142 East New Street, Lancaster, 1888 – 1940

Shultz, Jerome

Born: c. 1834 Died: ?

- Listed at 37 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1857 1860
- Listed as a tailor in Elizabethtown in the 1860 census

Simenhoff, Morris B. Born: February 28, 1868, Russia Died: September 22, 1953, Tampa, Florida

- Simenhoff's Art Studio, 24 West King Street, Lancaster, 1894 1901
- Went to England c. 1901, returned to the U. S. in 1903
- Lived in Atlanta, GA; Baltimore, MD; and Atlantic City, NJ before moving to Florida

Snyder, A. H.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed at 311 West Lemon Street, Lancaster, in 1914

Snyder, Russell

Born: c. 1855 Died: ?

• Listed at 105 East King Street, Lancaster, in 1880 Census

Stauffer, Jacob

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Mount Joy, c. 1858 – 1865

Stehman, Jacob S.

Born: c. 1835 Died: ?

- In business with Alfred Eberman as Eberman & Stehman, 1863 1870
- Possibly in Lancaster as late as 1872

Steigerwalt, Frederick W.

Born: July 10, 1884 Died: April 9, 1942, Lancaster

- Lived at 628 West Chestnut Street, Lancaster, and worked between 1900 1905
- Lived in Philadelphia, c. 1910
- Returned to Lancaster and worked as a pharmacist

Stibgen, Simon R. Born: September 20 1846, Marietta, PA Died: January 20, 1910, Marietta, Pa

- Listed as a repairer of watches in Marietta in the 1870 Census
- Listed as dealer in jewelry in Marietta in the 1880 Census
- Listed as a jeweler at 46 Market Street, Marietta in the 1890 Lancaster City and County Directory

Stoner, Harry Born: August 30, 1897, Ephrata Died: April 1984

• Worked in Ephrata, c. 1920 -?

Strine, David H. Born: July 24, 1874, York, PA Died: November 7, 1930, buried at Millersville Mennonite Cemetery

- Listed at 223 South West End Avenue, Lancaster, 1923 1929
- Listed in Lancaster Township in the 1930 Census
- Was living in York in 1920

Sumerlil, T. L.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Columbia, 1858 – 1859

Tait, H. C. Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Bowmansville, Brecknock Twp., in the 1860s

Titus, John Born: May 19, 1876 Died: January 8, 1963

- Worked at 5 West Main Street in Ephrata, c. 1909
- Listed in Lancaster in 1910 Census

Urban, Theodore F.

Born: ? Died: ?

• Listed at 19 East King Street, Lancaster, 1896 – 1898

Van Loan, Samuel

Born: July 5, 1823, Greene County, NY Died: August 22, 1900, Greene County, NY

- May have worked in Lancaster c. 1846
- Also worked in Philadelphia

Von Nieda, Daniel Born: December 23, 1844, Ephrata, PA Died: December 19, 1920, Ephrata, PA

- Had a traveling photography wagon, in business in various places, c. 1868 1876
- Became proprietor of the Mountain Springs Hotel in Ephrata

Von Nieda, John W. Born: December 15, 1873, Ephrata, PA Died: March 18, 1964, Ephrata, PA

- Son of Daniel Von Nieda
- In business with his brother, Robert Von Nieda, in Ephrata, c. 1890 1909
- Later became a contractor

Von Nieda, Robert Born: August 16, 1880, Ephrata, PA Died: November 25, 1951, Ephrata, PA

- Son of Daniel Von Nieda
- In business with his brother, John W. Von Nieda, in Ephrata, c. 1890 1909
- Had the Mt. Spring Studio and the Central Gallery in Ephrata

• In business on his own c. 1910 - 1951

Wakefield, Isaac

Born: August 14, 1888 Died: June 29, 1970

• Had a studio in Columbia from c. 1930 to c. 1960

Waltman & Bro.

- Possibly Henry B. and Jacob K. Waltman of Mount Joy
- Worked in Lancaster on North Queen Street, 1865-1866
- Also in Mount Joy on East Main Street

Weber, Otto E.

Born: September 23, 1858, Germany Died: November 1, 1913, Lancaster, buried at St. Anthony's Cemetery

• Had the New York Gallery and the Star Gallery at 106 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1890 – 1906

Westhaffer, Jacob M.

Born: c. 1819 Died: February 1, 1895, Lancaster

- Possibly worked as a photographer in Lancaster c. 1863
- Worked as a bookseller in Lancaster
- Listed next to photographer William Lant in Lancaster in the 1880 Census

Wilheim, ?

Born: ? Died: ?

• Worked in Columbia c. 1851

Williams, Lynford M.

Born: c. 1843 Died: March 1900, Seattle, WA

- December 29, 1866 Columbia Spy newspaper announces that Williams took over George A. Hyers' studio
- April 13, 1867 Columbia Spy newspaper announces the firm of Lesher & Williams has dissolved. H. C. Lesher continued his business at gallery on Front Street, Columbia.
- Listed in the 1870 and 1880 Census as a photographer in Columbia.
- Moved to Denver, Colorado in 1883

Williamson, Henry S.

Born: February 27, 1853 Died: May 20, 1917, Lancaster, PA

- Listed at 28 or 38 East King Street, Lancaster, 1899 1900
- Merchant, owned Williamson's Department Store

Willig, Frederick H.

Born: September 15, 1823, Hanover, Germany Died: July 4, 1886, Lancaster, PA, buried at Woodward Hill Cemetery

- Worked at 106 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1873 1876
- Also worked as a dyer in Lancaster

Wolf, George

Born: August 19, 1873, Lancaster, PA Died: September 9, 1941, Lancaster, PA

- Listed at 22 North Queen Street, Lancaster, c. 1901
- Listed at 6 West King Street, Lancaster, c. 1909
- Listed at 112 North Queen Street, Lancaster, 1919 1942
- Also called Wolf Photographic Services

Wolle, Robert N. Born: July 1, 1850 Died: July 5, 1912, Rothsville or Lititz

- May have worked in Lititz or Rothsville area during the 1870s
- Listed as a clerk in the 1870 Census in Rothsville, Warwick Twp.

Wonders, Solon

Born: April 1860, Ohio Died: between 1921 and 1923, Baltimore, MD

- Listed in Lexington, Stark County, Ohio, as a photographer in the 1880 Census
- Worked at 19 East King Street, Lancaster, 1896 1906
- Listed in Lebanon, Lebanon County, as manager of a Vaudeville theater in the 1910 Census
- In Baltimore, MD, by 1920

Youngman, James Born: c. 1854 Died: ?

- Listed as a photographer in Lancaster in the 1880 Census
- Listed in later Lancaster city directories as a foreman and an overseer